I. CENTRAL AMERICAN COUNTRIES

1. Belize
i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online for Belize available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/belize.html

Various links on this site provide information for everything on Belize.  Access to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Belize Court Makes Landmark Privacy Decision available at http://www.bosl.com/belize_court.html

In the case, Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), vs. Swiss Trade and Commerce Trust, Ltd., Banner Fund International, Lloyd Winburn et al, Supreme Court Justice Troedio Gonzales rules that documents held by the Belize court belonging to Swiss Trade and sought by the SEC, be immediately returned to Swiss Trade and Commerce Trust, Ltd. 

Belize Legal Information Network at http://www.belizelaw.org

An excellent source providing the full text of all laws contained in the new edition of the Laws of Belize, Revised edition 2000-2003.  This version is searchable by title or chapter and also by keyword.  The site also has the Supreme Court Rules 2005.
Constitution of Belize available at http://www.constitution.org/cons/belize.htm

This site includes the historical chronology of events leading up to the passing of Belize’s constitution, as well as the text of the Constitution itself with analysis of its’ provisions.
Offshore laws of Belize available at http://www.lowtax.net/lowtax/html/jbzolaw.html

This is a non-exhaustive list of the main Belizean statutes affecting offshore and non-resident business.  
2. Costa Rica
i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Costa Rica available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/costarica.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Costa Rica, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
A Guide to Legal Research in Costa Rica available at http://www.llrx.com/features/costarica.htm

This site provides background information on the country and the legal system, as well as providing the text of primary and secondary legal resources.
Constitution of Costa Rica available at http://www.costaricalaw.com/legalnet/constitutional_law/constitenglish.html

This site has the full text, in English, of the Constitution of the Republic of Costa Rica.

Costa Rica Laws available at http://www.costaricalaw.com/legalnet/lawindx.html

Complete text, in English, of all the statutes in effect in Costa Rica, organized by the topic of law.
Costa Rican library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

This site contains all laws, including secondary legislation, from 1981 forward.
La Gaceta is available at http://www.imprenal.go.cr

This site is the official gazette of Costa Rica, searchable by way of archived past editions, in Spanish.

The Constitutional Section of the Supreme Court of Justice is available at http://www.poder-judicial.go.cr/salaconstitucional

This site provides the official text of all judgments that appear each month in the Boletin from October 2003 to date, in Spanish.
3. El Salvador

i. Book
Mayra Gomez.  Human rights in Cuba, El Salvador, and Nicaragua : a sociological perspective on human rights abuse.  New York (2003).

This book is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.  It is a description of the status of human rights in several Central American countries as of 2003.
ii. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in El Salvador available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/elsalvador.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on El Salvador, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
El Salvador library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

A consistent and comprehensive database for legislation, this site provides English summaries of some laws and regulations from about 1980 to 1991.  From 1992 onwards, most of the laws and decrees have been summarized.  
The web site of the El Salvador Parliament is available at http://www.asamblea.gob.sv

The database contains legislation from the 19th century to the current year, but not all legislation, in Spanish.

4. Guatemala

i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Guatemala available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/guatemala.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Guatemala, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
A Guide to Legal Research in Guatemala available at http://www.nyulawglobal.org/globalex/Guatemala.htm

This site provides background information on the country and the legal system, as well as providing the text of primary and secondary legal resources.
Civil Code available at http://www.mintrabajo.gob.gt/varios/compendio_leyes

This site provides the full text to date of the Civil Code on the Ministry of Labor website, in Spanish.

Guatemalan library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

The database contains the entire range of legislation, in English.  In addition, the decisions of the Constitutional Court are included.
Guatemalan Congress is available at http://www.congreso.gob.gt

This site provides a great deal of information, but is limited regarding legislation.  It has only a few constitutional laws listed for review and is in Spanish.
5. Honduras

i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Honduras available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/honduras.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Honduras, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Constitution of Honduras available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/Honduras/honduras.html

Text of the Constitution of Honduras in Spanish.

Honduras library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

This database offers English summaries of most laws and regulations since 1976.  From 1997 onward, the summaries are supported by access to full official text in the official gazette.
6. Mexico

i. Books
Federal Civil Code of Mexico, Baton Rouge, LA (2003).


This book is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.  The Code has been translated into English with an introduction and index by Julio Romanach, Jr.

Commercial Code of Mexico: selected substantive provisions. Baton Rouge, LA (2003).

This book is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.  The Code has been translated into English with an introduction and index by Julio Romanach, Jr.

ii. Websites 

1917 Constitution of Mexico available at http://www.ilstu.edu/class/hist263/docs/1917const.html

Full text of the Mexican Constitution as drafted in 1917, in English.
A Guide to Law Online in Mexico available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/mexico.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Mexico, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Code of Civil Procedure, Criminal Code, and Code of Criminal Procedure available at http://www.cddhcu.gob.mx

This site provides the official Spanish text of the above Codes on the Chamber of Deputies website.
Consulate General of Mexico in New York available at www.consulmexny.org 

Information about the Consulate General of Mexico in New York, in Spanish.
Electronic Guide to Mexican Law available at  http://www.llrx.com/features/mexican.htm
A useful overview of the Mexican legal system that includes a host of links to Mexican legislation, government branches, and offices, in English.
Internet Law Library for Mexico available at http://www.lectlaw.com/inll/74.htm

Contains various documents including the Constitution and current legislation.  Some documents are provided in both Spanish and English, while others are only in Spanish.
Mexican Laws in English available at http://www.mexonline.com/mexicanlaws.htm

The most complete and current site on the Web for Mexican laws, Regulations, Standards, and Decrees in English. 
Mexican Laws in English available at http://www.mexicanlaws.com/

Mexican legislation that has been translated into English. 
Mexico library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

This site provides access to virtually all legislation and regulation in Mexico.  From 1975 to 1995, information is limited to English summaries, while 1996 on provides English summaries and the full Spanish text.
National Law Center for Inter-American Free Trade available at http://www.natlaw.com/mexico.htm

This site includes the Diario Oficial (Official Gazette), primary materials, and case law in English.  
Professor Jorge A. Vargas maintains his own website at http://www.mexlaw.com

This site provides a brief synopsis of major commercial and business laws and codifications, as well as reports on recent developments and analysis, in English.
Universidad Nacional Autonomia del Mexico (UNAM) is available at http://www.juridicas.unam.mx

This site provides full text of nearly 200 major federal laws, in Spanish.
7. Nicaragua

i. Book
Mayra Gomez.  Human rights in Cuba, El Salvador, and Nicaragua : a sociological perspective on human rights abuse.  New York (2003).


This book is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.  It is a description of the status of human rights in several Central American countries as of 2003.
ii. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Nicaragua available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/nicaragua.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Nicaragua, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Constitution of Nicaragua available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/nica/nica.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Nicaragua as well as some statutes, in Spanish.

Nicaragua library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

The database of English summaries extends back to the 1960s and continues up to 2003.  Unfortunately, coverage is sparse and tends to have gaps.  
The Asamblea Nacional de Nicaragua is available at http://www.asamblea.gob.ni

This site provides a comprehensive database of nearly all laws and decrees in force enacted between 1969 and 2002.  This site also includes secondary legislation, in Spanish.
8. Panama
i. Book
John P. Bowman. The Panama Convention and its implementation under the Federal Arbitration Act. London (2002)

This book is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.  It concerns international commercial arbitration and the recognition of awards from foreign jurisdictions.
ii. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Panama available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/panama.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Panama, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Constitution of Panama available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/panama/panama.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Panama, in Spanish.

Legalinfo Panama is available at http://www.legalinfo-panama.com

This site provides a number of legislative texts, in Spanish

Offshore laws of Panama available at http://www.lowtax.net/lowtax/html/jpaolaw.html

This is a non-exhaustive list of the main Panamanian statutes affecting offshore and non-resident business, in English.  
Panama library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

This resource provides brief English abstracts of legislation and full Spanish text (1996 to date).

Panama’s Parliament website is available at http://www.asamblea.gob.pa

This site offers full texts of all laws, 1997 to date, in an easily accessible format, in Spanish.
II. SOUTH AMERICAN COUNTRIES

1. Argentina

i. Books
Civil Code of Argentina, Baton Rouge, LA (2001).


This book is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.  The Code has been translated into English with an introduction and index by Julio Romanach, Jr.

Yves Dezalay. Argentina : law at the periphery and law in dependencies : political and economic crisis and the instrumentalization and fragmentation of law. Chicago, Il (1998)

This book describes the relationship between the economy, politics, and law of Argentina.  It is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.
ii. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Argentina available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/argentina.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Argentina, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Argentina Civil Code at http://www.justiniano.com

Lots of information is available on this site, including the Constitution as well as legislation, in Spanish.
Argentina Constitution available at http://www.argentina.gov.ar/argentina/portal/documentos/constitucion_ingles.pdf

Text of the Argentina Constitution is provided, in English.
Argentine legislation is also offered in GLIN, the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network, available at http://www.glin.gov
This service provides English-language summaries of laws, decrees, decisions, and other secondary legislation from the early 1970s.  From mid-1996 onward, the display also offers full text of a reasonable amount of legislation in Spanish, with full text scanning up to about eight months prior to the current date.  Coverage of legislation is far from total or comprehensive.  
Code of Civil Procedure, Civil Code, and Criminal Code available at http://infoleg.mecon.gov.ar/

This is a governmental site, Informacion Legislativa del Ministerio de Economica, which permits an easy search by the unique number of each code, law, decree, resolution, etc., as well as by subject or type of law, in Spanish.  

Commercial and Corporate law is available at http://www.Societario.com

Legislation on commercial and corporate law, in Spanish.

The Buenos Aires Bar Association is available at http://www.aaba.org.ar
This site provides access and links to a very large body of jurisprudence and national and state legislation, in Spanish.
The official gazette, Boletin official, is available at http://www.boletinoficial.gov.ar
The web site provides the contents of the Boletin (official gazette) for that day without charge, while other subscriptions can be arranged by e-mail, in Spanish.

2. Bolivia

i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Bolivia available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/bolivia.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Bolivia, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Bolivian library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

At present, the Bolivian library in GLIN has been removed from public view until it can be revised and reformed to meet the increasingly high standards of the Law Library of Congress.
Civil Code available at http://www.geocities.com/bolilaw/legisla.htm

Provides the entire code in Spanish, in Spanish.

Code of Civil Procedure available at http://www.cajpe.org.pe/RIJ

Text of the civil procedure code as of 1976 and the commercial code, in Spanish.

The Bolivian Ministry of Governmental Information available at http://abi.bo/

A comprehensive and liberal reform of the criminal procedure code was put into force in May, 2001, in Spanish.  This site also provides the full Spanish texts of about 100 pieces of legislation.
The National Law Center for Inter-American Free Trade is available at http://www.natlaw.com

This site offers twenty major laws published in Spanish, while three of the laws have an English translation.

3. Brazil
i. Book
Edilenice Passos. Doing Legal Research in Brazil. Netherlands (2001)


This book provides resources that will be useful in researching the legal system of Brazil.  It includes bibliographical references and is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.
ii. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Brazil available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/brazil.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Brazil, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
A Guide to Legal Research in Brazil available at http://www.llrx.com/features/brazil2002.htm

This site provides background information on the country and the legal system, as well as providing the text of primary and secondary legal resources, in English.
Brazil Constitution available at http://www.v-brazil.com/government/laws/constitution.html

This site provides the text of the Brazilian constitution in English.

Brazil Laws available at http://www.v-brazil.com/government/laws/

The text of various Brazilian laws are translated into English on this site.

Brazilian legislation is also offered in GLIN, the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network, available at http://www.glin.gov

A great deal of Brazilian legislation and regulation is indexed on GLIN.  Legislation and regulations from 1976 is listed and summarized in English.
Civil Code, Commercial Code, Criminal Code, and Code of Criminal Procedure of Brazil available at http://www.planalto.gov.br

This website is offered by the Presidency of Brazil and contains valuable and comprehensive coverage of Brazilian primary legislation from 1998 to date, in Portuguese.
SaraivaJur provides an online database at http://www.saraivajur.com.br/espacoUniversitarioLegislacao.cfm?cod=decretos

Probably the most comprehensive legal database, which provides all in force legislation, both primary and secondary up to a week prior to date.  This site also offers access to a substantial part of the enormous volume of jurisprudence, from a range of tribunals, both federal and state.  This site is in Portuguese.
4. Chile

i. Book
Yves Dezalay. Chile : law and the legitimation of transitions : from the patrimonial state to the international neo-liberal state. Chicago, Il (1998)

This book tracks the status of the law as the political and economic situation in Chile has transformed over the years.  It is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.
ii. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Chile available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/chile.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Chile, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Chilean Internal Revenue Service is available at http://www.sii.cl

This site provides all tax law, regulations and related matters, in Spanish.
Chilean legislation is also offered in GLIN, the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network, available at http://www.glin.gov

Essentially all legislation, 1975 to date is listed and summarized in English.
Civil Code, Code of Civil Procedure, Commercial Code, Criminal Code, and Code of Criminal Procedure of Chile available at http://www.bcn.cl

This site is a wide database of Chilean legislation maintained by the Chilean Congress.  The most comprehensive database, this one provides the text of all recent important legislation, as well as all earlier legislation, in Spanish.
Constitution of Chile available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/chile/chile.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Chile, in Spanish.

Constitution of the Republic of Chile available at http://confinder.richmond.edu/admin/docs/Chile.pdf

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Chile, in English.
5. Colombia
i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Colombia available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/colombia.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Colombia, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Constitution of Colombia available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/colombia/colombia.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Colombia, in Spanish.

Colombian legislation is also offered in GLIN, the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network, available at http://www.glin.gov

This site provides Colombian legislation, but it is about a year behind and omits coverage of 1997-1998.
6. Ecuador

i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Ecuador available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/ecuador.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Ecuador, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Civil Code, Code of Civil Procedure, Commercial Code, Criminal Code, and Code of Criminal Procedure of Ecuador available at http://www.cajpe.org.pe/RIJ/bases/legisla/ecuador/legiecpr.htm

This site contains several codes, as well as the Constitution, in Spanish.
Constitution of Ecuador available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/ecuador/ecuador.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Colombia, in Spanish.

La Hora is available at http://www.dlh.lahora.com.ec/paginas/judicial

This site is set up to provide up to date Spanish texts for a wide range of laws and regulations.
7. Falkland Islands
i. Website 

A Guide to Law Online in the Falkland Islands available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/falkland.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Falkland, in English.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
8. Guyana

i. Book
Carl B. Greenidge. Empowering a peasantry in a Caribbean context : the case of land settlement schemes in Guyana 1865-1985. Barbados (2001)


This book describes the evolution of land tenure in Guyana.  It is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.
ii. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Guyana available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/guyana.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Guyana, in English.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Constitution of Guyana available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/Guyana/guyana96.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Guyana, in English.

The Government Information Agency is available at http://www.gina.gov.gy

This source provides legislation enacted or consolidated up to 1998, in English.
The Parliament of Guyana is available at http://www.parliament.gov.gy

This site provides a fairly comprehensive listing of laws (1993-2003) but actual texts are not provided, in English.
9. Paraguay 

i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Paraguay available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/paraguay.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Paraguay, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Constitution of Paraguay available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/paraguay/paraguay.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Paraguay, in Spanish.

Paraguay Constitution available at http://www.servat.unibe.ch/law/icl/pa00000_.html
Text of the Constitution of Paraguay, in English.
Paraguay Global is available at http://www.paraguayglobal.com

This site provides Spanish texts of selected economic laws and regulations.
Paraguay library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

This site provides substantial coverage of Paraguayan legislation since 1990.  Summaries of legislation are lacking to about 1991, and from 1996 forward there are English summaries for nearly all laws and decrees.
The Paraguayan Senate offers a website at http://www.senado.gov.py

This site provides a compilation of all legislation from 1998 to date, in Spanish.

10. Peru
i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Peru available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/peru.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Peru, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution (which has an English translation), current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
CONASEV (Comision Nacional Supervisoria de Empreses y Valores) is available at http://www.conasev.gob.pe

This site provides resolutions passed by the Securities Market Commission from 2001 on in full Spanish text.
Constitution of Peru available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/peru/peru.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Peru, in Spanish.

Peruvian Congress maintains a database at http://www.congreso.gob.pe

This site contains a great deal of legislation from 1820 to date, in Spanish.
Peru library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

This site provides access to virtually all legislation and regulation in Peru.  From 1976 to 1996 the entries in GLIN are limited to the official citation and a brief English summary of a few sentences.  For 1996 onward, the site provides the full text in Spanish.
11. Suriname
i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Suriname available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/suriname.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Suriname, in English.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Constitution of Suriname available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/suriname/suriname.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Suriname, in Spanish.

Suriname Constitution available at http://www.constitution.org/cons/suriname.htm
Text of the Constitution of Suriname, in English.
12. Uruguay

i. Book
John Howard Jackson. Implementing the Uruguay Round. New York (1997)


This book relates to trade regulation under the WTO.  It is available in the Florida Coastal Law Library.
ii. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Uruguay available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/uruguay.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Uruguay, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
President of the Republic of Uruguay available at http://www.presidencia.gub.uy

There is legislation presented on this website with recent laws arranged by the month in which they were passed, and earlier laws filed by year, in Spanish.
Uruguay library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

This site contains legislation from 1990 forward, with 1990-92 having a brief summary of the law or regulation and occasionally, the full text in Spanish.  From 1993 forward, you will generally have the full Spanish text provided in addition to the English summary.
13. Venezuela
i. Websites 

A Guide to Law Online in Venezuela available at http://www.loc.gov/law/guide/venezuela.html
Various links on this site provide information for everything on Venezuela, in Spanish.  Links to the Constitution, current legislation, and information on the executive, judicial, and legislative branches is a click away.
Constitution of Venezuela available at http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Constitutions/venezuela/venezuela.html

Site provides the text of the Constitution of Venezuela, in Spanish.

Venezuela library through the Law Library of Congress’ Global Legal Information Network (GLIN) accessible at http://www.glin.gov

This site provides English summaries of essentially all legislation and regulation enacted from 1975 to 2001.
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